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All but forgotten today, the Five Points neighborhood in Lower Manhattan was once renowned the world over. From Jacob Riis to Abraham Lincoln, Davy Crockett to Charles Dickens, Five Points both horrified and inspired everyone who saw it. While it comprised only a handful of streets, many of America’s most impoverished African Americans and Irish, Jewish, German, and Italian immigrants sweated out their existence there. Located in today’s Chinatown, Five Points witnessed more riots, scams, prostitution, and drunkenness than any other neighborhood in America. But at the same time it was a font of creative energy, crammed full of cheap theaters, dance halls, and boxing matches. It was also the home of meeting halls for the political clubs and the machine politicians who would come to dominate not just the city but an entire era in American politics.

Drawing from letters, diaries, newspapers, bank records, police reports, and archaeological digs, Anbinder has written the first-ever history of Five Points, the neighborhood that was a microcosm of the American immigrant experience. The story that Anbinder tells is the classic tale of America’s immigrant past, as successive waves of new arrivals fought for survival in a land that was as exciting as it was dangerous, as riotous as it was culturally rich.
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Praise for Five Points

“A careful, intelligent, and sympathetic history.”

—The New York Times Book Review

“Tyler Anbinder has so thoroughly re-created Five Points that the stench of life there all but rises from the page.”

—New York Daily News

“Fascinating . . . a lively history.”

—New York Newsday

“Five Points has been brought back to life by Tyler Anbinder.”

—New York Observer

“The author has performed a prodigious . . . feat of research, leaving no original or secondary source untouched . . . a solid work of scholarship that deserves a permanent place in any top shelf of urban history.”

—The Washington Times

“A colorful and useful look at a neighborhood which captures the melting pot at its best and worst.”

—Irish America

“[A] fascinating book . . . Five Points provides absorbing material for anyone interested in our collective past or who loves a good human interest story.”

—Sun-Sentinel

“Once upon a time, the Five Points was New York’s most infamous neighborhood, singled out by generations of reformers and journalists as a hive of nightmarish squalor, violence, disease and crime. But as Tyler Anbinder shows in this compelling challenge to the conventional wisdom, the Five Points slum—bad as it was—was never quite so bad as outsiders wanted it to be. A first-rate history, meticulously researched and populated by an amazing cast of characters.”

—Edwin G. Burrows, coauthor of
Gotham: A History of New York City to 1898,
winner of the Pulitzer Prize

“New York City is the capital of the world right now, and much of its greatness traces back to certain very old neighborhoods, which trace back to an even older neighborhood, whose name, nearly forgotten today, was Five Points. Here is the history of that neighborhood.”

—Paul Berman, author of A Tale of Two Utopias:
The Political Journey of the Generation of 1968.
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INTRODUCTION


“FIVE POINTS! . . . The very letters of the two words, which mean so much, seem, as they are written, to redden with the bloodstains of unavenged crime. There is Murder in every syllable, and Want, Misery and Pestilence take startling form and crowd upon the imagination as the pen traces the words. What a world of wretchedness has been concentrated in this narrow district!”

Frank Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper, August 16, 1873.

FIVE POINTS was the most notorious neighborhood in nineteenth-century America. Beginning in about 1820, overlapping waves of Irish, Italian, and Chinese immigrants flooded this district in what is now New York’s Chinatown. Significant numbers of Germans, African Americans, and Eastern European Jews settled there as well. All but forgotten today, the densely populated enclave was once renowned for jam-packed, filthy tenements, garbage-covered streets, prostitution, gambling, violence, drunkenness, and abject poverty. “No decent person walked through it; all shunned the locality; all walked blocks out of their way rather than pass through it,” recalled a tough New York fireman. A religious journal called Five Points “the most notorious precinct of moral leprosy in the city, . . . a perfect hot-bed of physical and moral pestilence, . . . a hell-mouth of infamy and woe.”1

While Americans may have considered Five Points repulsive, they found it fascinating as well. Tap dancing originated in its raucous dance halls. The neighborhood was a playground for “Bowery B’hoys” and “sporting men,” two of nineteenth-century America’s most colorful street cultures. Its residents squared off in some of the most talked-about bare-knuckle prizefights of the century. Many of the city’s most renowned gangs were headquartered there. It was also the epicenter of rough-and-tumble Tammany politics and some of the most infamous riots in early American history.

Touring Five Points became an international attraction, drawing such notables as Charles Dickens, a Russian grand duke, Davy Crockett, and Abraham Lincoln. “Londoners know it as well as St. Giles; and strangers ask to be shown to it before they visit Fifth Avenue or the Central Park,” commented one authority. Indeed, the American concept of “slumming” was probably invented there. 2

In its heyday, Five Points was very likely the most thoroughly studied neighborhood in the world. Journalists chronicled its rampant crime, squalid tenements, and raucous politics. Religious magazines detailed missionaries’ efforts to “save” the district’s residents from sin and perdition. Many of nineteenth-century America’s best-known writers published accounts of their visits, and popular novelists from Ned Buntline to Horatio Alger set their stories there.

Yet those who saw Five Points firsthand believed that written words could never convey what life there was really like. “I have never seen any thing which has been written about this noted place, that gave any idea of it,” observed one author in 1852. Nor could the dozens of prints of Five Points that appeared in Harper’s Weekly and Frank Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper truly communicate the crowding, the suffering, and the crime that seemed so overwhelming in person. Jacob Riis’s famous photos of the neighborhood from the late 1880s finally gave Americans some sense of the wretched conditions in its tenements and drove the city to raze a sizable portion of the neighborhood. Five Points, for generations one of the most talked-about districts of the city, quickly faded from public consciousness. 3

Few historians devoted much attention to Five Points in the early years of the twentieth century. Academic historians concerned themselves primarily with politics and the law. Slums, immigrants, crime—none of these subjects seemed important enough to merit scholarly analysis. A few popular historians did study Five Points. The neighborhood figured prominently in Herbert Asbury’s Gangs of New York in 1928 and Alvin F. Harlow’s Old Bowery Days in 1931. But Asbury and Harlow were imbued with many of the same prejudices against the neighborhood’s Irish, Jewish, Italian, and Chinese immigrants that had colored contemporary accounts of Five Points, and this led to many distorted depictions of the district and its inhabitants. In addition, they tended to accept as fact virtually anything found in nineteenth-century newspapers, even though the press of the day was hardly reliable. Many of the most sensational stories about Five Points in The Gangs of New York and Old Bowery Days are patently untrue. 4

Thirty years ago, with the advent of “social history,” academics began to pay more attention to Five Points, though few devoted more than passing interest to its fascinating story. Only recently has Five Points bubbled back into popular consciousness, in popular histories of the city such as Luc Sante’s Low Life and prominent novels such as Caleb Carr’s The Alienist. An archaeological dig commissioned by the federal government in 1991 led to significant media interest in Five Points, as did Martin Scorsese’s screen adaptation of The Gangs of New York, which he set in Five Points and began shooting in the fall of 2000. Yet many of the recent accounts of Five Points continue to perpetuate the most egregious myths about the neighborhood. The two most important works on the history of New York published in the 1990s, for example—The Encyclopedia of New York City and Gotham—both misidentify something as simple as the streets whose confluence created the five-cornered intersection that gave the neighborhood its name. 5

Five Points, it is hoped, will set the record straight by providing the first detailed history of this fascinating immigrant enclave. Drawing on bank ledgers, court records, real estate documents, government reports, marriage and adoption records, newspapers, diaries, and manuscript collections, I hope to show that Five Points was more than a degraded object of fascination. The Five Points story is the quintessential immigrant saga, full of striving and—contrary to the neighborhood’s reputation—both misery and achievement.

Politics offers just one example. Five Pointers played a vital role in reshaping New York’s political landscape. They were key players at virtually every turning point in nineteenth-century New York’s electoral history. The district’s residents were among the first working-class New Yorkers to snatch political power from the hands of the old elite that had governed the city for centuries. They perfected the rough-and-tumble style of politics that, when eventually adopted citywide, would make the city’s Democratic machine, Tammany Hall, so infamous. In 1857, when state authorities attempted to hamstring Tammany by usurping many of its patronage prerogatives, Five Pointers made the city’s most dramatic statement of protest by fomenting a bloody riot. In the late 1860s, when the Tweed Ring was at its height, many of its most audacious acts of electoral fraud were perpetrated in Five Points. Many Irish Catholic Five Pointers excused these excesses, viewing the political system as a route to prestige and financial security.

Yet this history in no way denies that squalor dominated the lives of most Five Pointers. Recent scholarship on the neighborhood has tended to argue that conditions there could not have been as awful as previous generations have insisted. The myriad prejudices that observers harbored toward Irish Catholics, Italians, and the poor generally, these critics argue, must have significantly colored their depictions of the neighborhood. 6

These revisionists have vastly improved our understanding of Five Points, forcing us to recognize that much of what was written by contemporaries was simply not true. Yet in their well-intentioned efforts to identify prejudice, these writers have, I believe, lost sight of some unpleasant truths. Even if one considers only the statements of Five Pointers themselves, rather than the biased views of outsiders, one finds a neighborhood rife with vice, crime, and misery. Brothels were everywhere. Alcoholism was omnipresent. Habitually drunken men beat their wives and children. The neighborhood’s many female alcoholics neglected their sons and daughters, producing some of the Five Points’ most heart-rending tales of abuse and suffering. Upwards of 1,000 Five Pointers at any given time lived in filthy, overcrowded, disease-ridden, tumbledown tenements whose conditions are unimaginable to modern Americans. Previous generations of writers may have exaggerated certain aspects of life in Five Points, but the truth is that conditions there were quite wretched.

Nearly two centuries ago, New York City officials decided to extend Anthony Street east to the already-existing, X-shaped junction of Orange and Cross Streets, creating a five-cornered intersection that became known as Five Points. By the 1830s, it had become a concentration of vice, disease, crowding, and bloody conflict unparalleled in American history. But the neighborhood was far more than a collection of pathologies. Some Five Pointers were dragged down by the district’s crime, poverty, and misery, but most survived and eventually thrived, establishing more prosperous lives for themselves and their families than would have been possible back in Ireland, or Poland, or Italy, or China. From their struggles to endure the neighborhood’s brutal tenements, to their desperate efforts to find and keep work to support themselves and pay for the immigration of additional family members, to their eventual success in creating brighter futures for themselves and their children, Five Pointers’ stories are as old as America itself, and yet as contemporary as the current waves of immigrants that continue to reshape our society.
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PROLOGUE

THE FIVE POINTS RACE RIOT OF 1834

ON HIS WAY into the Laight Street Presbyterian Church on June 12, 1834, silk importer Lewis Tappan noticed a lone black man standing nervously outside the house of worship. Dozens of white parishioners stood by the doorway, chatting amiably among themselves, but casting suspicious glances at the man and then whispering to their friends. Incensed at the insensitivity of his fellow congregants, Tappan approached the man and recognized him as the Rev. Samuel E. Cornish, whom Tappan knew because both were active in the abolition movement. Cornish, who a few years earlier had co-edited the first African-American newspaper, had no congregation of his own. He had appeared at the door of the Laight Street Church that morning seeking a place for Sunday worship. Ignoring the looks of horror on the faces of the other parishioners, Tappan invited Cornish inside to attend the service and insisted that he sit in Tappan’s own pew toward the front of the church.

Tappan’s gesture was bound to create an uproar in 1830s New York, even within his relatively liberal congregation. Once inside, a number of parishioners complained loudly to Tappan and demanded that he never so embarrass them again. Observing the commotion, the church’s own minister, Samuel H. Cox, decided to make it the subject of his sermon that day. Condemning the intolerance of his parishioners, Cox told them that the peoples of the Holy Land were dark-skinned and would be considered “colored” by American standards. Jesus himself, Cox asserted, was therefore probably dark-skinned as well. Americans should thus have sympathy for all people of color.

In the press the next day, Tappan’s enemies seized upon Cox’s sermon as a means to discredit the entire anti-slavery movement. Reporting that Cox claimed Christ was black, anti-abolitionists wrote that such radical ravings proved that the abolitionists were “amalgamationists,” seeking intermarriage and social integration of blacks and whites. Two conservative journals, the Commercial Advertiser and the Courier and Enquirer, were especially vicious in their attacks, advocating violence to suppress abolitionism and the threat it posed to national unity.1
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Coverage of the anti-abolition riot from the New York Transcript, July 14, 1834. Collection of the New-York Historical Society.



The incident at the Laight Street Church might not have had significant repercussions had not anti-abolitionists in general, and the Commercial Advertiser and the Courier and Enquirer in particular, been engaged in a long-running feud with Tappan and his brother and business partner Arthur, also an active abolitionist. The bad blood between the Tappans and the city’s conservative press dated back to 1832, when the brothers leased the Chatham Theater, located just south of Chatham Square at the fringe of the Five Points neighborhood, and converted it into a chapel for the famed evangelist Charles G. Finney. According to Finney, the Tappans had selected the location because it was “in the heart of the most irreligious population of New York. It was not far from the ‘five points,’ and was a place of resort highly discreditable to the city.” Although designated by its founders the Second Free Presbyterian Church because it charged no pew rent (in hopes of attracting the poor into the evangelical movement), the house of worship became universally known as the Chatham Street Chapel. Under the leadership of Finney and the Tappans, the chapel became a popular venue for abolitionist meetings.2

The movement to abolish slavery was still considered quite radical in 1830s New York. Most of those willing to admit that slavery was an evil did not support its immediate abolition, but instead promoted the colonization movement, which sought to send voluntarily emancipated slaves to Africa. The Tappans had once been active in the colonization movement, but around 1830 converted to the abolition cause. In order to discredit colonization, Lewis Tappan in May 1834 conducted a public interrogation of a man recently returned from Liberia, the African nation set up by American colonizationists. The man painted a picture of licentiousness, drunkenness, and sexual debauchery in the new African state. Embarrassed colonization advocates (especially the editors of the Commercial Advertiser and the Courier and Enquirer) responded with scathing attacks on the Tappans. But the Tappans remained determined to expose colonization as a subterfuge by which those who really hoped to protect slavery diverted attention and money from abolitionism.

The tensions between New York abolitionists and their adversaries had smoldered throughout early 1834. By early July, just a few weeks after Tappan had invited Samuel Cornish inside his church, they ignited into violence. And because both the Chatham Street Chapel and one of the city’s largest concentrations of blacks were located in or near Five Points, the neighborhood became the focus of much of the bloodshed. On Independence Day, an angry mob disrupted an abolitionist lecture at the Chatham Street Chapel. Outnumbered and intimidated, the opponents of slavery canceled their meeting. According to the Sun, the rioters then proceeded to City Hall Park “to act out their patriotism in knocking down the blacks . . . [and] commanding every man of color they met to leave the Park. . . . On seeing this Alderman [James] Ferris interfered, and the rioters knocked him down also.” Police eventually dispersed the mob and arrested six rioters.3

Three days later, violence erupted again as a group of African Americans gathered at the Chatham Street Chapel to celebrate the anniversary of the abolition of slavery in New York. When some members of the New York Sacred Music Society arrived for practice, not knowing that it had been canceled, they brusquely ordered the assembled blacks to leave. An argument flared, and the ensuing scuffle degenerated into a brawl that was “waged with considerable violence on both sides, and resulted in the usual number of broken heads and benches.”4

When the Courier and Enquirer announced inaccurately on Wednesday, the ninth, that another anti-slavery meeting would take place at the chapel that evening, anti-abolitionists mobbed it once again. Finding the church closed, they broke in and held a meeting of their own. Led by George “Legs” Williamson (“a most desperate character [who] would cut and shoot when in a tight place”), the crowd then stormed Lewis Tappan’s house at 40 Rose Street. Tappan and his family had gone to Harlem to escape the summer heat, so were not hurt by the flying glass when the rioters smashed some windows. The rioters’ next target was Five Points’ Bowery Theater, where the rioters forced the cast to abort a benefit performance for the playhouse’s English-born stage manager, who had supposedly made anti-American remarks. Still burning with resentment, the mob returned to Tappan’s house, broke in, smashed the crockery, tore down the blinds, and removed and burned all the furniture. Future Vice President Schuyler Colfax, then a boy of twelve, visited the scene the next day and later said that his disgust at the wanton destruction helped convince him to support the anti-slavery cause.5

On the following evening, Thursday, July 10, mobs seemed to be everywhere—at Tappan’s house again, at his store on Pearl Street, at Reverend Cox’s house, and at the Bowery Theater, among other places. And on the evening of the eleventh, the rioting degenerated into a full-scale racial pogrom, as crowds attacked African-American homes, businesses, and churches throughout the Five Points area. This time, the violence began at the Tappan store, where a mob of more than one hundred overwhelmed fifteen security guards and broke the shop’s windows. The rioters moved up Pearl Street to Five Points, where they attacked two or three houses on Mulberry Street just north of Chatham Square. Word soon spread throughout the neighborhood that the rioters wanted Five Points whites “to exhibit lights in the windows,” so the mob would know which houses not to attack. Meanwhile, most of the rioters moved northwest to the block of Orange Street just north of the Five Points intersection, where many Five Points blacks lived. There the mob attacked the African-American Mutual Relief Hall at 42 Orange Street, breaking all the windows and tearing down the sign. Around the corner at African-American John Rolloson’s porterhouse at 157 Leonard Street, “the mob rushed in, tore down his bar, threw his kegs of liquor into the streets, and carried them off, broke all the decanters and glasses, and carried off a clock and what money was in the drawer.” Rioters went upstairs and took almost two hundred dollars “in silver, 4 valuable watches, a set of silver spoons and jewelry to the amount of $100,—then destroyed the furniture in the basement,” until they were driven away by the “watch.” Still not satisfied, the mob crossed the street and burned all the furniture at 156 Leonard Street, including that of African-American Maria Willis, who “was robbed of everything she had in all the world.” The poor woman, who had four children and was pregnant with a fifth, had been widowed just two weeks earlier.6

Back on Orange Street, still other rioters were smashing doors and windows near the Five Points intersection. According to the account in the New York Transcript, “they were about to pull down the Arcade,” a saloon at 33 Orange, and the Swimming Bath bawdy house at 40 Orange, when a street inspector named McGrath “addressed them, and assured them that every negro should be out . . . by twelve o’clock the next day; they then gave three cheers, shook hands with the officer, and left . . . without disturbing a plank.” Moving north, the rioters attacked 56 and 561/2 Orange, where they “broke all the windows [and] furniture, abused the inmates, and carried off property to the amount of $100.” Next, they stormed Thomas Mooney’s barbershop at 87 Orange. But Mooney, armed in preparation for the onslaught, fired three times at the mob, injuring one person and convincing the rest to spare his business. The rioters then moved westward. They attacked St. Philip’s African Episcopal Church on Centre Street around 11:00 p.m. “and demolished it almost entirely, including a fine organ.” Up and down Centre Street the crowd attacked the homes of African Americans, smashing windowpanes and wrecking furniture. From some residences the mob even “took the clothes of gentlemen, which the colored people had taken in to wash.” Finally, the mob arrived at Anthony Street and broke the windows of the African Baptist church and a few other buildings, including those of the porterhouse operated by African-American Robert Williams. In anticipation of the violence, Williams had closed his saloon that afternoon and moved his valuables, “as did several other black families whose dwellings were attacked.” Only after venting their rage at virtually every manifestation of African-American life in the neighborhood did the rioters disperse.7

In terms of wanton destructiveness, the Five Points anti-abolition riot was the most devastating in New York history to that point. “In thirty years’ acquaintance with the city,” insisted the Post, “nothing has ever happened to compare with it.” Surveying the damage in the riot’s aftermath, the Sun remarked that it appeared “as if the angel of destruction had swept his bosom over the land.” Many black Five Pointers were “seriously wounded,” and the casualty list would have been longer had many more not fled the city altogether. The riot left the Five Points African-American community devastated, both physically and emotionally. “It is enough to sicken the heart of every one not destitute of humanity,” commented the Sun, “to see weeping fathers and mothers sobbing over the ruins of all they possessed, the effects of years of toil, with their little children around them crying for bread.”8

What had motivated this tremendous outpouring of hatred? On one level, the mob undoubtedly sought to emphasize its opposition to the abolition movement and its implied message that blacks were the equals of whites. Yet the breadth and intensity of the attack against black Five Pointers indicate that members of the crowd, either consciously or unconsciously, harbored some deeper resentments. Signs of African-American economic independence clearly galled them, for while the black-occupied hovels of a particularly decrepit alley known as “Cow Bay” were left untouched, the few black-owned businesses in the neighborhood were devastated. Finally, by literally tearing the roofs off black-occupied buildings, the mob sent perhaps its most emphatic and unmistakable message. The rioters sought not merely to injure black-owned or -occupied property, but to make their homes and businesses permanently uninhabitable.9

The Five Points anti-abolition riots were not isolated incidents of violence in an otherwise peaceful community. In 1834 and 1835 alone, two other significant riots would rock the neighborhood. The scope, ferocity, and deadliness of these three episodes of unrest were unprecedented, not merely for Five Points but for the entire city. They revealed racial, ethnic, and religious fault lines that New Yorkers had previously recognized but preferred to ignore. Over the next sixty-five years, Five Pointers would often find themselves at the epicenter of these struggles—ones that would help shape modern New York.



CHAPTER ONE


The Making of Five Points
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FIVE POINTS, the lower Manhattan neighborhood named for the five-cornered intersection of Anthony, Orange, and Cross Streets, was originally verdant and bucolic, like everything else in America. A five-acre lake known as “the Collect” was its defining landmark. Just northeast of the Collect, Bunker Hill rose more than a hundred feet, providing picnickers with breathtaking views of both the wildlife that gathered at the Collect’s shores and the expanding city to the south. But as New York spread northward, the Collect area became a favorite site for the city’s most noisome industries. Slaughterhouses, banned from inhabited areas, clustered just east of the lake on what is now Bayard Street. By the mid-1700s, it was the only place in the city where one could lawfully kill livestock. Here meatpackers could butcher their cattle at a safe distance from the populace, transferring the meat south to the markets and the hides to the many nearby tanneries that concentrated on the shores of the Collect. The curing carcasses and the chemicals used to process them created a stench every bit as pungent as that produced by the slaughterhouses. The drovers who patronized the slaughterhouses spent their layovers at the famous Bull’s Head Tavern on the Bowery, which provided pens where cattlemen could keep their herds while they drank or spent the night.10

By the end of the eighteenth century, contamination from the tanneries, slaughterhouses, and other industries had transformed the Collect from a lovely landmark into a putrid nuisance. Architect Pierre L’Enfant proposed cleaning the lake and surrounding it with a park so that the city might grow around a central recreation area, but landowners refused to sell and the project collapsed. A proposal to make the Collect part of a canal from the Hudson to the East River was also abandoned. With no alternative in sight and the city expanding rapidly northward, New Yorkers began to consider something other than water for the site. The Common Council in 1802 ordered the Collect filled with “good and wholesome earth” from Bunker Hill, which was leveled at the same time. By 1813, the Collect had been completely covered over, literally laying the ground for what would become the world’s most notorious neighborhood.11

Once the Collect had been filled, the area changed rapidly. Although some of the local industries such as the Coulthardt Brewery and the Crolius pottery works remained, most of the tanneries moved. Some of the tanners shrewdly retained their real estate holdings in the area. The Lorillard family, for example, became tobacco merchants while they built and rented housing on the property that had once held their tannery. The Schermerhorns, whose rope works had once lined the east side of the Collect, retained property in the neighborhood, too, as did the Livingstons. German immigrant Heinrich Ashdor, who had purchased land around the slaughterhouses in 1785, maintained a significant interest in real estate there as well. His profits from the sale of sixteen lots on and behind the Bowery in 1825 helped establish the fortune of the family, by this point rechristened as the Astors.12

Prominent citizens made real estate investments in the Collect neighborhood, as it was still known for nearly two decades after the lake had disappeared, because a healthy return on their investments seemed assured. With the city’s population expanding rapidly after the War of 1812, and the portion of Manhattan south of City Hall already densely populated, newcomers to New York were desperate to find new residential and commercial locations farther to the north in neighborhoods like Five Points. In one of their many efforts to meet these demands, municipal authorities in 1817 authorized the extension of Anthony Street east to the intersection of Orange and Cross.13

Landowners generally filled their lots with two-and-a-half-story wooden buildings, the half story an attic with low ceilings and dormer windows suitable for small workshops. Of the neighborhood residents who filled these houses, about half worked as artisans, with shoemakers, tailors, bakers, carpenters, and masons especially numerous. Merchants, shopkeepers, and professionals also scattered throughout the area. Businessmen housed their own families and often their clerks or journeymen and apprentices in the very same buildings where their businesses operated.
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Photo of the Five Points intersection taken some time after 1867 from the south side of Worth Street (previously Anthony) looking toward the northeast. These two-and-a-half-story buildings dominated the neighborhood in the 1820s and 1830s. Collection of the New-York Historical Society.



Although the mix of occupations in the Collect neighborhood did not differ dramatically from that of the rest of the city at this point, some distinctions quickly emerged. By 1825, immigrants accounted for at least 25 percent of the area’s population, more than double their representation in the city as a whole. African Americans also concentrated in the district, comprising about 15 percent of its inhabitants, again double the city average. These immigrants and blacks were much more likely to be unskilled menial laborers than were other citizens. Perhaps as a result, the per capita income of the ward was the lowest in the city, about 40 percent below the average.14

Yet the Collect district in the 1820s was far from the “ulcer of wretchedness” that it would soon become. A number of factors, many complex and interrelated, contributed to the deterioration of the neighborhood that would soon become known as Five Points.* One was the declining economic status of the city’s artisans. As the “market revolution” slowly transformed the nation, many of the goods once handcrafted on a small scale by local artisans were now mass-produced in parts of the city or country where it was most economical or efficient to do so. Shoemaking, for example, became concentrated in Massachusetts, where footwear could be shipped on the nation’s increasingly thorough network of roads, canals, rivers, and coastal waterways. Shoe manufacturers took more and more business from independent, small-scale shoemakers, frequently hiring workers without a master shoemaker’s thorough training. Although artisans whose skills could not be “bastardized” in this way (such as shipbuilders or masons) escaped much of the impact of these changes, most suffered a decline in income.15

In the old days, artisans had speculated in real estate by obtaining long-term leases on their houses, which served as both workplace and home, for themselves and their employees. If they decided to relocate their businesses before the lease expired, they might sublet or sell the rights to the lease. By the 1830s, however, most did not feel economically self-confident enough to continue such speculation. Instead, they leased houses for a few years at most. They were also less likely to rent enough living space for their employees, for in an economic slowdown they might need to lay off their workers and did not want to be stuck paying rent for unoccupied rooms. Because of these changes and the general decline of the home workshop, neighborhoods organized by trade began to disappear, and New York began for the first time to divide into commercial and residential districts. Five Points became one such residential neighborhood.16

As these changes took place in the 1820s and 1830s, immigration and migration swelled the city’s population, and as a result housing prices rose dramatically. Landlords discovered that it was significantly more profitable to subdivide their two-and-a-half-story houses into small apartments and rent each to a single family. Some tore down the small houses on their lots and put up taller brick buildings that could accommodate many more tenants. Most simply converted existing buildings. The owners of old decrepit buildings paid less in taxes than owners of sparkling new structures, providing landlords with additional incentive to subdivide old buildings into many small apartments and spend little or nothing to maintain them. Because so many unrelated tenants lived in these structures, they became known as “tenant houses,” and by the 1840s as “tenement houses.” Thus was born one of America’s signature immigrant environments. Most Five Points landlords happily converted their small buildings into tenements and rented apartments in them to increasingly less well-to-do workers and their families, while employers and other prosperous citizens moved to neighborhoods populated by their peers.17

The proliferation of residential neighborhoods provided advantages for tenants as well as landlords. Under the old system, employers had closely monitored their workers’ after-hours behavior. If the worker lived with his boss, the employer would know if the employee came home late, or drunk, or with a woman of ill-repute. Even if a worker merely lived in the same neighborhood as his boss, his after-work behavior was likely to be observed by his employer. This became an especially sensitive issue in the twenties and thirties, as evangelical ministers began to prod their employer parishioners to hold their workers to the same high moral standards to which they themselves aspired. New Yorkers who resented others dictating how they should spend their leisure time took offense at this meddling, and their animosity contributed to violence directed against Baptist and Methodist churches in New York. The Baptist church on lower Mulberry Street in the heart of the Five Points neighborhood was the target of attacks on a number of occasions in the 1820s.18

The new residential districts were more homogeneous than earlier New York neighborhoods. Five Points’ prosperous merchants moved west to homes near Broadway. Successful artisans relocated to the Fourteenth Ward north of present-day Canal Street, where the quality of housing was superior. Some wealthier residents remained, but these were primarily grocers and saloonkeepers, who even though they could afford to live elsewhere found it more convenient to live where they worked or in buildings that they owned. Because the journeymen and laborers who came to dominate Five Points tended to have fluctuating incomes, the quality of the homes that they could afford varied from year to year, so they moved especially frequently, creating an impression of instability that made the neighborhood unattractive to better-off New Yorkers.

The very ground under Five Points was also a problem. Although civil engineers had succeeded in erasing all obvious traces of the Collect, the ground remained damp and unsettled, causing houses to shift and tilt dramatically just a few years after construction. The slightest rain or snowfall created basement floods throughout the neighborhood, especially in its western portion along Anthony and Orange Streets where the lake had once stood. Because so many diseases of the period were attributed to dampness and “vapours,” few New Yorkers wanted to live in such a locale.19

The increasing association of the area with immigrants and blacks also played a role in its decline. Discrimination forced African Americans into certain occupations—especially those of chimney sweep, barber, and sailor—whose status and pay kept them in constant poverty. Many whites shunned such “degraded” workers. Immigrants sometimes faced similar bigotry. By 1830, an increasing proportion of newcomers settling in New York were Irish and Catholic. They usually arrived with less savings than other immigrants and sought the cheapest housing available, much of which was in Five Points. As Catholic immigrants became more numerous, native-born Protestants increasingly moved away.

Finally, it was Five Points’ development into a center of prostitution that sealed its disreputable fate. Until 1820, the waterfront district around Water Street had housed the city’s largest concentration of prostitutes and brothels. But by 1830, Five Points had become the center of New York’s commercial sex industry, with more bordellos located on Anthony Street between Centre and Orange than on any other block in the city. It is difficult to determine why Five Points became the city’s most popular red-light district. Perhaps it was the large population of rootless immigrant men. Prostitutes may have also selected the district because its central location, just a few blocks from Broadway and City Hall, made it convenient for customers from all over the city.20

There were other parts of New York that were just as impoverished. Both Corlear’s Hook and the waterfront area around Water Street struggled with crime and poverty. Yet because Five Points was so central (no more than a twenty-five-minute walk from any significantly populated portion of New York), residents continued to cram into its houses well after the tenements had reached a point that most would have considered full. Crowding grew worse and worse, apartments got smaller and smaller, until finally Five Points became something new in America: a slum in the very center of a city.

“I WOULD RATHER RISQUE MYSELF IN AN INDIAN FIGHT THAN VENTURE AMONG THESE CREATURES”

Five Points’ speedy decline can be traced in the newspapers of the 1820s and 1830s. Business publications such as the Journal of Commerce, party organs such as the conservative Courier and Enquirer (the voice of the Whigs), the more moderate Evening Post (Democratic), and even tabloids such as the Sun all began to mention Five Points with increasing frequency. The first known press comment about the alarming conditions in Five Points dates from 1826. In that year, a letter to the editor of the New York Evening Post demanded that the city address the neighborhood’s increasingly shameful conditions. “CORNELIUS,” as he signed himself, claimed inaccurately that “the Collect” acquired its name because of “the vast collection of houses of ill fame, tippling shops, drunken persons and other kinds of filth in which it abounds.” His account nonetheless indicates a close familiarity with the area: “The houses generally are of wood from one to two and a half stories high and of no very attractive appearance; every fourth or fifth one, upon an average,” sells liquor and “sundry” other goods

without particularly enquiring how they were obtained, a fact which our police records will fully substantiate. In and about these rum holes [live] both sexes, and almost every variety of age and colour, drinking, swearing and fighting. . . . I saw no less than four fights in as many minutes, conducted in the Kentucky style of rough and tumble, accompanied with a grand chorus of shouts and the most profane language. The different combatants, black and white, men and women, displayed admirable proficiency in the art of boxing and afforded amusement to the crowd, who formed rings for the purpose of betting on the victor. In short, the wretched appearance of the place, the immorality of the inhabitants, &c. would hardly be believed if not witnessed. Something ought to be done for the honour of the city, if for no other reason than to render the place less disgusting and pernicious, it being the resort of thieves and rogues of the lowest degree, and by its filthy state and “villanous smells” keeps respectable people from residing near it.21

In 1829, the press for the first time referred to the neighborhood as “Five Points.” An editorial in the Evening Post directed police “to put an end to the crimes and outrages almost daily committed in this neighborhood, which has become the most dangerous place in our city.” Even prominent citizens were not safe there, noted the Post, which reported that Assistant Alderman George D. Strong had been slashed in the nose with a knife.22

The same Post editorial also demanded that a small group of Five Points tenements be razed—one of the first recorded efforts at slum clearance in American history. In January 1829, a group of New Yorkers petitioned the Common Council to tear down a tiny triangular block of tenements created when city officials had demolished the surrounding buildings in order to extend Anthony Street eastward to the Five Points intersection. Most of the houses remaining in the 7,500-square-foot triangle had been sheared in half, lending them a tumbledown quality that frightened away most potential tenants. As a result, stated a committee of councilmen, the triangle’s buildings were “occupied by the lowest description and most degraded and abandoned of the human Species.”23

A year later, a letter writer to the Post complained about the lack of progress. New buildings were under construction all over town, but “in that place only which stands in most need of improvement—I mean the Five Points—nothing is done.” The Post’s correspondent condemned the whole area as a “nuisance” and asked for “the removal of Five Points,” though by this comment he may have meant merely the triangular plot of buildings rather than the entire neighborhood. A subsequent petition to the Common Council suggested that the city build a new jail on the triangular site and widen some of the streets leading to the intersection by tearing down portions of other existing buildings. Supporters justified the plan on the grounds that the conditions in Five Points adversely affected businesses in other parts of the city. Citizens who might venture from the East Side to shop on Broadway were disinclined to do so because they feared having to pass through Five Points, while businesses on Pearl Street to the south and east of Five Points suffered similarly.24

But the Common Council balked at tearing down the triangle of tenements. It would be dangerous to locate a prison near the former site of the Collect, noted some of the lawmakers, because disease would spread uncontrollably in a prison built on such low, damp ground. The potential expense of the plan also worried them. Those proposing demolition had assumed that acquiring the property would cost the city little, because the wretched tenements on the triangle of land were almost worthless. Yet the land below the rotting buildings was actually quite valuable, the council discovered, because it produced “a great rent on account of its being a good location for small retailers of Liquor. . . . What may be considered as the Nuisance has in reality increased the Value of the property.” Consequently, the Common Council refused to endorse any changes in Five Points. Continued pressure from the press and business owners in surrounding neighborhoods, however, resulted in the enactment of compromise legislation in January 1832. The city would acquire the triangle of tenements and tear them down, but rather than constructing the prison there would instead build a tiny park. It became known as Paradise Park. The legislation also provided for the widening of some of the streets (Cross, Little Water, and Anthony) leading to Five Points, in the hope that wider thoroughfares would seem less dark and forbidding. “The decent inhabitants in the vicinity of the Five Points,” applauded the Mirror, “ought to give ‘nine cheers’ at the breaking up of that loathsome den of murderers, thieves, abandoned women, ruined children, filth, misery, drunkenness, and broils.”25

The decision not to build a prison in Five Points because of the fear of contagious disease proved a wise one, for just a few months later, the cholera outbreak of 1832 ravaged the neighborhood. Cholera is a bacterial infection that spreads primarily through water contaminated by human feces. Symptoms include high fever and a ricelike diarrhea in which the “rice” is actually pieces of a victim’s colon flaking away. Thousands of New Yorkers died during the 1832 epidemic, and the disease spread especially rapidly in tenement districts such as Five Points where outhouses and wells were located too close together. The tendency of cholera to run rampant in impoverished tenement districts led to the belief that it was the dissolute habits of the poor, rather than an inadequate sanitation system, which made one susceptible to the contagion. “The disease is now, more than before, rioting in the haunts of infamy and pollution,” reported the Mercury. In Five Points, “a prostitute at 62 Mott Street, who was decking herself before the glass at 1 o’clock yesterday, was carried away in a hearse at half past three o’clock. The broken down constitutions of these miserable creatures, perish almost instantly on the attack.” What worried more fortunate New Yorkers most about cholera in Five Points was the neighborhood’s proximity to their own homes. In the past, the poor had lived on the periphery of town or were too widely dispersed to create a concentration of contagion. Yet with Five Points’ “race of beings of all colours, ages, sexes and nations . . . inhabiting the most populous and central part of the city,” complained a Post correspondent, “when may we be considered secure from pestilence? Be the air pure from Heaven, their breath would contaminate it, and infect it with disease.”26

By 1834, the press began to publish lengthy exposés about the neighborhood. The first appeared in the Sun that spring. The reporter found that apartments in the worst parts of Five Points did not have “a table, chair or any other article of furniture, save a cooking utensil, a few plates, and knives, and bottles, with which to carry on the business of living. Few beds were found in any of these apartments, the inmates sleeping or lying on heaps of filthy rags, straw and shavings, the stench from which was almost insupportable.” He described “white women, and black and yellow men, and black and yellow women, with white men, all in a state of gross intoxication, and exhibiting indecencies revolting to virtue and humanity. . . . The drunkards of both sexes, intermingled with scarcely any thing to hide their nakedness,” lay “in a state of misery almost indescribable.”27

Although the conditions inside Five Points apartments were bad, the Sun’s reporter was also horrified at how Five Pointers made public spectacles of themselves: “In the afternoon of each day, when drunkenness is at its height, the most disgusting objects, of both sexes, are exhibited to the eyes of the examiner. Indecency, squalid poverty, intemperance and crime, riot and revel in continued orgies, and sober humanity is shocked and horrified, at the loathsome spectacles incessantly presented.” Evenings were no better: “At night the streets and sidewalks are literally blocked by swarms of sturdy vagabonds of both sexes; the grog shops are filled . . . horrid oaths and execrations burst upon the ear from every tipling house, and brothel, and the most abominable indecencies of every kind, by word and deed, are perpetrated and heard.”28

According to the Sun, the drinking and carousing that took place inside was worse than that on the streets. Here neighborhood criminals hatched their larcenous plans, divvied up the loot after each heist, celebrated by drinking, dancing, and gambling, and procured prostitutes. The favorite haunts of the “rogues and vagabonds of the Five Points are the Diving Bell, Swimming Bath, and the Arcade, at Nos. 39, 40, and 33, in Orange street.” The reporter also mentioned “the Archway” on Orange at the corner of Leonard (either 46 or 48 Orange) and “the Yankee Kitchen” on Cross Street just above Orange. The entire two-block length of Little Water Street was a gathering place for criminals. Both the portion north of Anthony, known according to the Sun as “Cow bay,” and the block south of Anthony, which the reporter labeled “Squeeze Gut Alley,” were described as “principally the resort and residence of white, black, and mulatto prostitutes, and the bullies and blackguards who keep and visit them, and are seats of vice, hotbeds of debauchery, wretchedness, and poverty, such as few eyes have witnessed.”29

The reporter concluded that “if ever wretchedness was exhibited in a more perfect garb, if ever destitution and degradation were more complete, if ever immorality and licentiousness were presented in more disgusting forms, we confess we have never yet beheld them.” He assured his readers that he had seen on the “frontiers . . . squatters . . . without any visible means of support,” as well as “untutored Indians” in “the howling wilderness . . . and examined minutely the situation of the slaves, held to labor, in their most deplorable conditions; after seeing all these, we hesitate not to say, that the colored, and some of the white tenants of the Five Points, are infinitely more degraded and debased, than these others we have named; and the border settler in his hut, the Indian in his wigwam, and the Southern slave in his cabin, is each a monarch in comfort, respectability, happiness and virtue, when compared to the wretched vagabonds, who inherit, as it were, poverty, vice and crime, in and near the Five Points. They endure literally, a hell of horrors, arising from their poverty and wickedness, such as few others on earth can suffer.”30
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Five Points, by George Catlin, probably from 1827. Collection of Mrs. Screven Lorillard, Far Hills, New Jersey.



One of the most fascinating documents available for the analysis of Five Points’ early history is a painting of the intersection by George Catlin from about 1827. All the elements of Five Points’ reputation are in evidence. Fights are breaking out everywhere; people are drunk; pigs roam the streets; whites and blacks are mixing; and prostitutes brazenly solicit customers (see the second-story window on the upper right). Even the abundance of groceries portrayed would have been significant to 1820s New Yorkers, as antebellum groceries were often little more than liquor stores, generating most of their profits selling beer, ale, rum, and gin. That an accomplished artist such as Catlin would bother to paint an impoverished working-class neighborhood indicates that—by that early date—Five Points was truly renowned.31

By the 1830s, Five Points’ infamy was so well known that out-of-town visitors went there to see its depravities. The first of these tourists to record his impressions for posterity was frontiersman Davy Crockett. In 1834, Crockett toured the Northeast and soon after published An Account of Col. Crockett’s Tour to the North and Down East. Written in a style that attempted to convey that Crockett’s co-author was as much a backwoodsman as the famous colonel (the ghostwriter was actually Pennsylvania congressman William Clark), An Account of Col. Crockett’s Tour listed the visit to “Five-points” as one of the highlights of the frontiersman’s tour. “The buildings,” noted Crockett and Clark, “are little, old, frame houses, and looked like some little country village. . . . It appeared as if the cellars was jam full of people; and such fiddling and dancing nobody ever saw before in this world.” The mixing of the races in these dance halls was especially noteworthy: “Black and white, white and black, all hugemsnug together, happy as lords and ladies, sitting sometimes round in a ring, with a jug of liquor between them: and I do think I saw more drunk folks, men and women, that day, than I ever saw before. This is part of what is called by the Regency the ‘glorious sixth ward’—the regular Van Buren ground-floor. I thought I would rather risque myself in an Indian fight than venture among these creatures after night. I said to the colonel, ‘. . . these are worse than savages; they are too mean to swab hell’s kitchen.’” The infamy of Five Points was now being conveyed to a national audience.32

With their reference to Vice President Martin Van Buren, though, Crockett and Clark added a new element to the discourse surrounding Five Points. Five Points was part of the city political district known as the Sixth Ward, and “Regency” was the term used by enemies to describe the Democratic party’s statewide organization, then headed by Van Buren. “The regular Van Buren ground-floor” referred to the large Democratic majority the district routinely polled—larger than that in any other ward. Crockett had recently broken with the Democrats and thrown his support instead to their Whig opponents. Crockett and Clark were using the Democrats’ popularity in Five Points to cast aspersions on the entire party.

“KEEP THOSE DAMNED IRISHMEN IN ORDER!”

The reference to Van Buren may have been inspired by a Five Points election riot in 1834. There were actually three riots there in 1834 and 1835—the first an election battle; the second the Lewis Tappan–inspired race riot; and the third an ethnic and religious fight between natives and Irish Catholics. The initial riot began on Tuesday, April 8, 1834, the first of three days set aside for voting in New York’s municipal election. That year, for the first time, the various groups that opposed the policies of President Andrew Jackson and his Democratic party had unified in a single organization, just then becoming known as the Whig party. The Whigs were determined to unseat the Democrats, who had controlled New York’s municipal government in recent years. Whigs believed that by emphasizing Jackson policies they considered unconstitutional (such as his removal of federal deposits from the Bank of the United States without the consent of Congress) and by vigilantly guarding the polls to prevent Democratic intimidation of voters in places such as the Sixth Ward, they could carry the election.

Each side blamed the other for the fighting. Whigs insisted that it started when a mob of a hundred or so Democrats, led by ex-Alderman George D. Strong (he of the slashed nose), invaded the Whigs’ Sixth Ward committee rooms, tore down banners, destroyed Whig ballots, and assaulted those Whigs present. Democrats, on the other hand, asserted that peace had prevailed in the district until Whigs from the First and Second Wards arrived at the Sixth Ward polls. They had come ostensibly to prevent Democratic intimidation, but instead threatened peaceable Democrats with weapons, insulted them by repeating slurs from the Whig press, and vowed loudly to “keep those damned Irishmen in order!” Such confrontations led to polling place fights at which a number of participants were seriously injured.33

To highlight their claim that Jackson ignored the Constitution, the Whigs had constructed a huge model of the warship Constitution which, with the aid of four horses, they pulled through the streets. When the Constitution rolled into the Sixth Ward on the second morning of balloting, more fisticuffs ensued, though this time a heavy police presence prevented severe injuries. Voting proceeded relatively quietly until noon on the third and final day of the canvass, when violence erupted outside the Whig headquarters at Masonic Hall on Broadway, at the western edge of the ward. Democrats claimed that the trouble started when one of the “sailors” from the Constitution (then parked outside Masonic Hall) beat an Irishman, whose friends headed toward Five Points looking for reinforcements. Whigs claimed that no such beating took place and that they were simply, in the words of former mayor Philip Hone, attending to the “miniature frigate . . . when suddenly the alarm was given, and a band of Irishmen of the lowest class came out of Duane Street from the Sixth Ward poll, armed with clubs, and commenced a savage attack upon all about the ship and the hall. There was much severe fighting and many persons were wounded and knocked down. The Irishmen then retired and the frigate was drawn away, but in a few minutes the mob returned with a strong reënforcement, and the fight was renewed with the most unrelenting barbarity. The mayor arrived with a strong body of watchmen, but they were attacked and overcome.” Each side had hundreds engaged in the rioting by this point.34

Determined not to be bested, the Whigs retreated into the Sixth Ward to the nearby city arsenal at the corner of Elm and Franklin Streets, where they broke in and began to arm themselves with muskets. The mayor, who a few minutes earlier had pleaded with the Democrats to desist, now implored the Whigs to leave the weapons alone before the riot turned murderous. “He begged them to consider the awful consequences of this movement” to introduce firearms, reported the Sun. “Civil war” was inevitable if they did not reconsider. “‘Stop, for the love of heaven, stop,’ said the Mayor, as the tear stood in his eye—‘You are rash—you know not what you do.’” After this impassioned plea, the Whigs came out of the arsenal without the weapons and order was restored. Thus ended the ordeal.35

The rioting that day was unprecedented in the history of New York City—at least prior to July’s race riot. “The extent and violence of the disturbance went well beyond any riot of the eighteenth century and far exceeded any previous political tumult in New York,” writes historian Paul Gilje. “Never before had an election pushed the city so near the brink. Never before had there been such anarchy.” Both Democrats (such as the Post’s editors) and Whigs (such as Hone) blamed the heightened tension on ethnic animosity. Hone characterized it not as a fight between Democrats and Whigs, but “between the Irish and the Americans.” The riot further hurt Five Points’ reputation, convincing New Yorkers that the neighborhood’s Irish threatened not only the health and morals of the city, but its peace as well.36

Just three months later, in July, the anti-abolition riot erupted. And eleven months after that, a third riot disgraced the neighborhood. Like the first, this one pitted Irish immigrants against native-born citizens. Since the election riot, tensions between natives and immigrants had increased alarmingly in many parts of the United States. In August 1834, a mob burned a Catholic convent near Boston. A few months later, Samuel F. B. Morse published a series of virulently anti-Catholic newspaper articles in New York charging the Catholic Church with a conspiracy to flood the United States with Catholic immigrants in order to assist in the overthrow of democratic government. The growing animosity between natives and Irish-Catholic immigrants manifested itself in New York as well, with street fights breaking out in September and October 1834 and January and March 1835.37

Hostility between the Irish and natives truly exploded in early June 1835, however, when word spread throughout the city that the Irish in Five Points were about to form an exclusively Irish militia company. Without a standing army of any significance, antebellum Americans relied upon volunteer militia units to defend the nation and at times quell domestic disturbances. Two decades had passed since the United States’s last war, and because none seemed imminent, these militia companies had become primarily social organizations, with picnics and drinking occasionally interrupted for a bit of target practice or drilling. Because Irish immigrants tended to socialize with each other and probably felt unwelcome in units comprised either primarily or exclusively of natives, it was inevitable that they would form militia units of their own. Yet the nativist press vehemently objected. “No greater insult was ever offered the American people than the arrangements now being made to raise in this city an Irish regiment to be called the ‘O’Connell Guards,’” insisted the Courier and Enquirer. “Such a corps would soon attempt to enforce with the bayonet what too many of the misguided and ignorant of the foreign voters already boast of—the complete subjection of the Native Citizens to their dictation.” Similar diatribes in the Courier and Enquirer had helped foment both 1834 riots, so New Yorkers braced themselves for another outbreak of violence.38

Natives claimed that the trouble started on Sunday evening, June 21, 1835, when an Irishman upset the cart of a native-born apple vendor. The Irish insisted that it originated when natives insulted a drunk Irishman, perhaps concerning the propriety of drinking on the Sabbath. Others said the cause was a brawl between the O’Connell Guard and its neighborhood rival, the natives-only American Guard.39 Whatever the cause, every observer agreed that a “most disgraceful riot” erupted between “natives and Irish” along Pearl and Cross Streets between 6:00 and 7:00 p.m. According to the Sun, “Ireland and America were the battle cry of the contending parties, and both sides found plenty of zealous friends. Bloody noses, bunged eyes, cracked craniums, and barked knuckles soon became the distinguishing marks of scores of combatants.” At its height, several thousand were engaged in the melee, and dozens were injured.40 Fighting also spread north of Five Points. On Grand Street, Irish rioters hit Dr. William McCaffery with a brick, “which broke his jaw bone.” The doctor, after “being thrown down, was jumped on, and several of his ribs broken.” McCaffery died a day later. The Courier and Enquirer claimed that the rioters had singled out McCaffery for such a malicious attack because he was an Irish Whig, and the paper set up a fund to assist his widow and children. This was the first fatality of the bloody year in Five Points.41

Rioting resumed Monday night, June 22, as both natives and immigrants gathered on Chatham Street near Orange and Pearl looking for trouble, though “the party claiming to be American” far outnumbered its adversary. Fighting spread across the neighborhood and from there both southward toward City Hall and northward above Walker Street, where the natives stoned the house of a “Mr. O’Brien” and “menaced” St. Patrick’s Cathedral (on Mott Street north of Walker) as well. They also attacked the Green Dragons tavern on the Bowery and some twenty houses on Orange Street. The next evening, a large crowd that “seemed to cherish burning resentments against the adopted citizens” collected on Chatham Street near Orange. Meanwhile, closer to the Five Points intersection, “fire arms and clubs were seen” in the hands of immigrants, who vowed to use them against natives if attacked. Many Catholics assembled at the Cathedral to protect it from an expected onslaught, but none materialized. Although there were again many “broken heads” and bruises, the mayor, aldermen, and police finally managed to disperse the rioters and bring the violence to an end.42

In many ways, this riot was the least dreadful of the three. The neighborhood never seemed as close to anarchy in June 1835 as it had fourteen months earlier when the Whigs stormed the arsenal. There was no serious damage to property this time, in stark contrast to the rampant destruction during the anti-abolition violence of the previous summer. Yet the deaths of Dr. McCaffery and an English-born piano maker made the final melee the only one to result in fatalities, something virtually unprecedented in previous American rioting. The final unrest also helped lead to the creation of the city’s first nativist political party.43

A subsequent incident, one that did not receive the attention of the riots, reflected the lingering ethnic and religious tensions in Five Points. In March 1836, the Herald reported that “the Bowery gang” was up to its old mischief again, invading the oyster bar at the North American Hotel at the corner of Bowery and Bayard and causing a commotion. Later that day, gang members threw snowballs and ice at the predominantly Irish-American city workers clearing snow from the streets. When the workers protested, the Bowery gang beat them unmercifully with the laborers’ own shovels and pickaxes, injuring one badly. The reaction of the crowd when Alderman Ferris and some constables arrived at the scene revealed the ethnic tensions at the source of the attack. The offenders had long since disappeared, but the crowd defended the assailants and excoriated Ferris and the city workers, shouting “D__m the Irishmen, they ought not to have work—the Corporation always gives them work and not us Americans.” Some of this animosity, of course, had a religious underpinning. Writing at about this time, New Yorker Asa Green reported that the city was brimming with anti-Catholicism and that he commonly heard it said that “the Pope of Rome is coming hither, with hasty strides, to take the land.”44

From this point on, Five Points would be renowned as the most violent part of the “Bloody Sixth” Ward, where collective violence was the standard response to almost any grievance. The reputation was mostly unwarranted, at least at this point. Outsiders had instigated most of the violence in the anti-abolition riot, and much of the blame for the 1835 anti-Irish riot rested outside the community as well. Nonetheless, observers concluded that any neighborhood in which three major riots could take place in just fifteen months must be particularly brutal. Additional election riots, particularly one in 1842, would reinforce this impression.45

“LET US . . . PLUNGE INTO THE FIVE POINTS”

By the late 1830s, all the major elements of Five Points’ reputation were well established in the minds of New Yorkers and many Americans. It was an Englishman, however, who brought that reputation to the world. Charles Dickens was not yet thirty years old when he embarked on a five-month tour of North America in 1841. He had become a celebrity a few years earlier for his Pickwick Papers, and the subsequent publication of Oliver Twist established his reputation as a severe critic of England’s treatment of the poor. Consequently, one might have expected Dickens to portray Five Pointers with sympathy and compassion. But the young writer harbored a burning resentment of the United States, where inadequate copyright laws brought him little compensation for sales of his work. Dickens’s account of his visit, the American Notes, brutally condemns nearly every aspect of American life.

His description of Five Points revealed its appalling conditions, already well known to New Yorkers, to readers all over the world:

Let us go on again . . . and . . . plunge into the Five Points. . . . We have seen no beggars in the streets by night or day; but of other kinds of strollers plenty. Poverty, wretchedness, and vice are rife enough where we are going now.

This is the place, these narrow ways, diverging to the right and left, and reeking everywhere with dirt and filth. . . . Debauchery has made the very houses prematurely old. See how the rotten beams are tumbling down, and how the patched and broken windows seem to scowl dimly, like eyes that have been hurt in drunken frays. Many of those pigs [previously described wandering the streets foraging for food] live here. Do they ever wonder why their masters walk upright in lieu of going on all-fours? and why they talk instead of grunting? . . . . Here, too, are lanes and alleys, paved with mud knee deep; underground chambers, where they dance and game . . . hideous tenements which take their name from robbery and murder; all that is loathsome, drooping, and decayed is here.

Dickens described in detail his visits to some of the neighborhood’s wretched tenement apartments. In one, what initially appeared to be piles of rags was in fact several African Americans sleeping in their clothes on rag-pile beds on the floors of their apartments. Although he had thought that no slum in America could match those of London, Dickens concluded that Five Points contained every bit as much misery as the “Seven Dials, or any other part of famed St. Giles.”46
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Although this image dates from the 1880s, slumming parties had begun to visit Five Points as early as the 1830s. Frank Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper, December 5, 1885. Collection of the Library of Congress.



Dickens’s visit to Five Points made it fashionable for well-to-do New Yorkers to go “slumming,” visiting Five Points as Dickens had done, with a police escort, to marvel at its poverty and gawk at its displays of vice. Indeed, the term “slumming” may have been coined there to describe such tours. “I had never before any adequate idea of poverty in cities,” admitted the writer and literary critic Nathaniel P. Willis after visiting Five Points in the mid-1840s. “I did not dream that human beings, within reach of human aid, could be abandoned to the wretchedness which I there saw.” The writer, abolitionist, and reformer Lydia Maria Child toured Five Points in about 1844. “Morally and physically, the breathing air was like an open tomb,” she wrote in Letters from New York:

How souls or bodies could live there, I could not imagine. If you want to see something worse than Hogarth’s Gin Lane, go there in a warm afternoon, when the poor wretches have come to what they call home, and are not yet driven within doors, by darkness and constables. There you will see nearly every form of human misery, every sign of human degradation. The leer of the licentious, the dull sensualism of the drunkard, the sly glance of the thief—oh, it made my heart ache for many a day. . . . What a place to ask one’s self, “Will the millennium ever come!”

Such expeditions soon became a standard part of visiting tourists’ itineraries. A Scandinavian writer, Fredrika Bremer, inspected the infamous district carefully, recognizing that conditions varied immensely within Five Points, sometimes even within a single tenement. Nonetheless, she concluded that “lower than to the Five Points it is not possible for human nature to sink.”47

By the late 1840s, such descriptions had convinced Americans that Five Points was the nation’s worst neighborhood. New York Tribune contributor George G. Foster wrote in 1849 that Five Points was to New York “the great central ulcer of wretchedness—the very rotting Skeleton of Civilization, whence emanates an inexhaustible pestilence that spreads its poisonous influence through every vein and artery of the whole social system, and supplies every heart-throb of metropolitan life with a pulse of despair.” Others asserted that no slum in the world could rival its filth and misery. “We know of no place on the earth where there are more wretched beings congregated together than at the Five Points,” contended the New York Evening Post in 1846. Minister Lyman Abbott concurred, writing in 1857 that Five Points “contains more squalid poverty and abominable wickedness than any area of equal size in the world.”

Five Points had become so notorious that its very name became an adjective, a term used to describe something scandalously raunchy. The Herald jibed in 1842 that “if you desire to revel in the midst of Five Points literature, read the Courier and Enquirer, and the New York American,” which daily “contain columns of the lowest, most vulgar, most blackguard, most ferocious libels against the President.” The Methodist missionaries who attempted to reform the area likewise found that Five Points had become “the synonym for ignorance the most entire, for misery the most abject, for crime of the darkest dye, for degradation so deep that human nature cannot sink below it.”48

Five Points became so infamous that reference to it even became a staple of the southern defense of slavery. Northern abolitionists were hypocrites to complain about slavery, insisted slaveholders, when they tacitly condoned such abject suffering in their own midst. A Kentucky doctor who had treated Five Points cholera victims in 1832 argued that its residents “are far more filthy, degraded, and wretched than any slave I have ever beheld, under the most cruel and tyrannical master. . . . They are in the lowest depths of human degradation and misery.” Two decades later, a South Carolinian who visited Five Points contended that it contained more vice, poverty, and wretchedness than the entire South. Only “when the Abolitionists have cleared their own skirts,” could they “hold up their hands in holy horror at the slave-holder, and the enormity of his sins.” Even southerners who had not seen the slum firsthand began to cite it as proof of the superiority of their way of life. The Southern Quarterly Review asked “whether there is any negro quarter, from Mason and Dixon’s line to the Rio del Norte, which could furnish a picture of vice, brutality, and degradation comparable to that drawn from the heart of London” or “the Five Points of New York?” Southerners also cited Five Points as proof that the anti-slavery Republican party was in favor of the “social equality of the negro.” A slave state congressman described to the House of Representatives “a ball held at Five Points in the city of New York, where white women and negroes mingled ‘in sweet confusion in the mazy dance.’” Southerners felt certain that the life of a free person in Five Points, whether black or white, was infinitely worse than that of any slave.49

Opponents of slavery and its expansion also alluded to Five Points to justify their political organization, the Republican party. In reply to the previously quoted speech to the House of Representatives, Michigan congressman Francis W. Kellogg asserted that while his colleague’s depiction of Five Points might be accurate, the ward in which the neighborhood was located “is the strongest Democratic ward in the city, and I doubt if a Republican vote was ever polled there.” Those who endorsed or participated in the depravity described by Kellogg’s colleague were in fact Democrats, and could in no way be linked to the Republican party or the anti-slavery cause. North Carolina Republican Hinton Helper elaborated upon this theme in his famous Impending Crisis of the South. Helper noted that at the “Five Points Precinct” in the 1856 presidential election, Democrat James Buchanan received 574 votes to only 16 for Republican John Frémont and 9 for Know Nothing Millard Fillmore. He then pointed out that Five Points, “with the exception of the slave-pens in Southern cities, is, perhaps, the most vile and heart-sickening locality in the United States. . . . The votes polled at the Five Points precinct, which is almost exclusively inhabited by low Irish Catholics,” proved that the Democratic party appealed most to degraded slum dwellers and those too ignorant to resist the “Jesuitical” influence of the Catholic Church. Northerner and southerner, slaveholder and abolitionist, could all use Five Points to justify their political views.50

The reputation of Five Points, the “Five Points of the mind,” one might say, was firmly and irreversibly established. But was the neighborhood really as bad as these writers claimed? After all, each of the groups that shaped its reputation had some incentive to make it look as horrible as possible. In fact, not too long after Dickens had published his description, New York journalists admitted that as bad as Five Points was, it was “not one half the pestilential hole he has represented.”51

The truth is horrifying and yet simultaneously inspiring as well. There were many irredeemable individuals, yet the immigrants who dominated Five Points survived and eventually thrived in their new homeland. Five Points had more fighting, drinking, and vice than almost anywhere else; but also more dancing and nightlife, more dense networks of clubs and charities, and opportunities both small and large for those who seized them. With its energy, brutality, enterprise, hardship, and constant dramas, Five Points was an extreme case, yet still a deeply American place.
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PROLOGUE

NELLY HOLLAND COMES TO FIVE POINTS

IF FIVE POINTS was so famously wretched, why did so many immigrants settle there? Ellen Holland’s tale provides one answer: it was far better than staying home. “Nelly” had been born and raised in southwestern Ireland in the County Kerry parish of Kenmare. There she grew up surrounded by jagged mountain peaks and lush green hills that sloped dramatically to the wide, majestic Kenmare River. Nelly and her family lived on the estate of the third marquis of Lansdowne—an English nobleman whose property was home to thirteen thousand of the most impoverished residents of nineteenth-century Ireland. Visitors to the huge estate commonly chose adjectives such as “wretched,” “miserable,” “filthy,” “half naked,” and “half fed” to describe the poor farmers and laborers who comprised the vast majority of its population.

Observers invoked such descriptions of Nelly’s birthplace even before a mysterious potato blight began to wreak havoc with the staple of her diet in 1845. By late 1846, Kenmare residents began to succumb to starvation and malnutrition-related diseases that spread in the blight’s wake. In early 1847, the death toll multiplied. An Englishman who visited Kenmare village wrote that “the sounds of woe and wailing resounded in the streets throughout the night.” The following morning, nine of those sufferers lay dead. “The poor people came in from the rural districts [of the Lansdowne estate] in such numbers, in the hopes of getting some relief, that it was utterly impossible to meet their most urgent exigencies, and therefore they came in literally to die.” Tens of thousands fled Ireland in 1847, hoping to start new and more prosperous lives in England or America. But almost none of the Lansdowne tenants could afford to leave Kerry. Few had emigrated from this isolated estate in the pre-famine years, so Kenmare residents were not receiving the remittances from abroad that enabled many famine victims to leave Ireland.1

When the fungus subsided in 1848, British officials in charge of famine relief declared the emergency at an end. But such decrees meant nothing to Holland and others suffering in Kenmare. Most of Lansdowne’s tenants were by that point too weak to work or plant and too destitute to buy seed potatoes. And what few tubers they did cultivate in 1849 were again ravaged by the dreaded fungus. Kenmare once more became the center of suffering in the region, with people “dying by the dozens in the streets.” Those on the brink of death crowded into the village workhouse, where, in return for giving up all of their worldly possessions, the starving received just barely enough food to keep them alive. By April 1849, the institution held 1,800 souls “in a house built for 500—without shoes, without clothes, in filth, rags and misery,” wrote Kenmare’s Roman Catholic archdeacon, John O’Sullivan. “The women squatted on the ground, on the bare cold clay floor and [were] so imprisoned for months . . . without as much as a stool to sit on.” One of these poor souls was Ellen Holland. She and her three sons, thirteen-year-old James, nine-year-old Thomas, and four-year-old George, were almost certainly among the institution’s inmates. Her husband Richard was probably one of the many men who remained outside the workhouse hoping to find work. Or he may have been one of the hundreds authorities turned away for want of space.2

Securing one of the coveted spaces in the Kenmare workhouse did not ensure survival. Hundreds died there during the famine from diseases such as dysentery and cholera that spread rapidly in the crowded, unsanitary conditions. The food supply was so meager that some inmates died of starvation just hours after being released from the facility. Nelly Holland probably remained at the workhouse throughout 1849 and 1850, wondering how her life might ever return to normal, or if she and her sons would also fall victim to the seemingly unending cycle of disease and death.3

Nelly must have been elated when Lansdowne’s estate agent announced in December 1850 that the marquis would finance the emigration to America of all his workhouse tenants who wished to go. Holland and her sons were among the first to take advantage of the program. Yet transAtlantic voyages were challenging even for hearty souls, and Lansdowne’s tenants were emaciated and totally ill-equipped for the crossing. Sailors were horrified when they first encountered the Lansdowne emigrants, reporting that in the half decade since the onset of the famine they had never laid eyes on such wretched beings. The emigrants continued to suffer as they made their way across the Atlantic. The rags they wore provided woefully inadequate protection from the elements aboard a North Atlantic sailing ship in the dead of winter. Nelly Holland’s vessel, the Montezuma, had to detour around an iceberg and huge swaths of “field ice” during its voyage, giving some indication of the frigid conditions she and her shipmates endured. And although Lansdowne’s agent had paid for the emigrants’ tickets, he did not supply his charges with the foodstuffs that the typical Irish immigrant brought aboard a trans-Atlantic vessel. Holland was forced to subsist on the “ship’s allowance,” just one pound of flour or meal and thirteen ounces of water each day, during her thirty-nine days at sea.4

By the time Nelly arrived in New York in mid-March, hundreds of thousands of Irish men, women, and children fleeing the famine had arrived in the United States through this bustling port. Yet even jaded New Yorkers considered the condition of the Lansdowne immigrants shocking. A New York Tribune reporter found many of the Montezuma’s passengers dazed, disoriented, homeless, and starving in the streets near the waterfront days after their arrival. The Herald also singled out the Lansdowne immigrants for comment, characterizing their treatment as “inhuman.” With three children in tow and no husband (he came on a later vessel), Nelly must have found those first weeks in New York extraordinarily difficult.5

Like most of the Lansdowne immigrants, Nelly and her family eventually settled in Five Points. Unable to afford anything else, the Hollands rented an apartment at 39 Orange Street, where they were surrounded by drunks, notorious saloons and brothels, and other Lansdowne immigrants. The Hollands’ two-and-a-half-story frame building was set within one of the most notoriously squalid blocks of tenements in the world. A journalist visiting the building less than two years before the Hollands’ arrival in New York had found 106 hogs residing on the premises.6

Despite these hardships, Ellen Holland and her family set to work rebuilding their lives. After years of unemployment, they must have been eager and delighted to take even the lowly jobs available to them. Ellen became a washerwoman. Richard found work as a menial day laborer. Their son James, fifteen years old when he arrived in New York in 1851, probably began doing day labor as well. But a laborer’s life was a hard one, full of long hours and backbreaking work in all kinds of weather. Such strenuous exertion could take its toll on even the heartiest constitutions, especially those weakened by years of famine. Ellen Holland discovered this all too well. By July 1855, Richard and James were both dead. Still living in squalor at 39 Orange, Nelly now had to pay the rent and support two children on the few dollars a week she could scrape together by taking in laundry. But Nelly Holland was not a quitter. As bad as life in Five Points was, Kenmare had been far worse. Holland would live at least to age fifty-two. Not only would she survive in America—she would eventually thrive.7



CHAPTER TWO


Why They Came
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BY THE EARLY 1850s, the drama of life in Five Points so captivated Americans that tales of the famous neighborhood found their way into nearly every form of literary endeavor. Barnum’s Museum featured a play about its most infamous tenement. A best-selling novel depicted dissolute immigrants engaged in lives of crime and orgies of incest in overcrowded, squalid tenement buildings. A poet lamented the struggles of its inhabitants for dignity. The new pictorial newspapers published exposés of tenement life there, featuring lurid portraits of gruesome, thieving thugs and wizened, pipe-smoking old hags as typical Five Points residents. When an entirely new form of literature—the book-length, nonfiction account of urban crime and debauchery—made its way from Europe to the United States, the “sins” of Five Points served as a featured attraction. Yet many of the stories in these publications were obviously fictitious, or exaggerated, or simply recycled versions of a few shockingly lurid tales. Not every Five Pointer could have been a thief, a prostitute, or a drunk. What kinds of people really lived in Five Points? And how did they end up there?8

“EVERY NATIONALITY OF THE GLOBE”

In order to answer these questions, it is important to understand how dramatically the population of both Five Points and the city as a whole had changed since 1830, when the neighborhood had first become notorious. Immigration increased enormously after 1830, with most of the newcomers who settled in New York coming from Ireland and the German states. The foreign-born population expanded from 9 percent of the city’s total in 1830 to 36 percent in 1845. With the onset of the potato blight in Ireland, the pace of immigration accelerated further. By 1855, when the flood of immigrants had finally begun to subside, 51 percent of New Yorkers had been born abroad. The population of the city swelled tremendously in these years, more than doubling from 1825 to 1845 (from 166,000 to 371,000), and then increasing 70 percent more during the famine decade, to nearly 630,000 by 1855.9

Five Points became home to many of these newcomers. From 1830 to 1855, the population of the ward virtually doubled, from 13,570 to 25,562. The most dramatic increase came during the peak Irish famine years from 1845 to 1850, when it increased from 19,343 to 24,698. With immigrants pouring into the neighborhood and many natives leaving, the foreign-born accounted for 72 percent of Five Points’ population by 1855. Even this figure understates the immigrant presence in the neighborhood, however, because the vast majority of “natives” were the young children of recent immigrants. If only adults (those eighteen years of age or older) are considered, the foreign-born constituted a full 89 percent of Five Points residents. No New York neighborhood could boast a higher concentration.10

Observers believed that immigrants from all over the world settled in Five Points. “All the nations of the earth are represented,” stated the Five Points Monthly, a Methodist journal. A minister working there on the eve of the Civil War likewise found “a population that . . . represents every nationality of the globe.” Yet this perception was somewhat exaggerated.
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In comparison to some modern New York neighborhoods, antebellum Five Points seems relatively homogeneous, as 91 percent of its residents were born in Ireland, the United States, or the German states. Of the other groups, only Italians and Poles lived there in significantly greater numbers than in the rest of the city. Five Points was far from the Tower of Babel many perceived.11

Most Five Pointers did not arrive in New York alone, but instead made the journey to America with at least one other family member. Among married couples who had had children in Europe, about three-quarters emigrated together (though, like Nelly Holland, they may not have all come on the same ship). It is impossible to determine how many of those who arrived in Five Points before marriage came to the United States alone. But a sampling of all Irish immigrants disembarking at New York during the famine years indicates that 56 percent traveled with at least one family member.12

Whether one arrived in New York alone or with family members, the immigrant was usually expected to send money back to his or her native land to finance the passage of others—a process known as “chain migration.” In cases in which a family with small children was divided, the husband typically went to America first and then brought the rest of his family over to Five Points. Laborer William Higgins, for example, emigrated from Ireland to New York in 1851. Only after two years of saving could he afford to bring over his wife Mary and four-year-old son James. Levi Abraham, a tailor, left his wife Amelia with their newborn son Abraham for four and a half years before they were reunited at the beginning of 1855. Sometimes, the emigrating husband brought a child with him and left his wife with the rest of their children.

In a surprising number of cases, husband and wife emigrated together and left the children behind. Michael and Bridget Conway left their four-year-old daughter Catharine in Ireland when they emigrated in 1850. She rejoined her parents two years later. John and Mary Hughes left four children—ranging in age from nine to one—in Ireland when they departed for America in 1850. They brought the middle children over a year later and the other two only in 1853. Their youngest child, Ann, by then four, undoubtedly had no memory whatsoever of her parents when they met her in New York. Even widows sometimes left children behind. When widow Margret McHugh embarked for America in 1849, she left five children ranging in age from twelve to two. She became a washerwomen in New York, and brought her twelve-year-old daughter Mary over in 1850, then two sons in 1852, and finally the two youngest girls, who she had not seen for four years, in 1853. It did not take most families this long to reunite completely, but even a relatively short period of separation brought anxiety to all involved and guilt to the immigrant who could not pay for the reuniting of the family as quickly as promised.13

The names of these immigrants reflect the Irish domination of Five Points. But other ethnic groups constituted nearly a quarter of the neighborhood’s adult population. Most numerous after the Irish were natives of the German states. The important distinction within this group was religion. The German community in Five Points was almost evenly divided between Jews and Christians. The Jews in Five Points may not have considered themselves “German”; they emigrated from what was then often referred to as “Prussian Poland,” the region of Poland annexed by Prussia in the eighteenth century. Yet if these Jews are counted as Prussian and therefore German, Jewish German families made up 53 percent of the neighborhood’s German population.14

One might imagine that these Christian and Jewish “Germans” would have too little in common to consider themselves a “community.” They do not, for example, seem to have come from the same regions of Germany. Most German states were represented in the Five Points population. But it appears that slightly more than half of the Christians were natives of two areas, Baden-Württemberg in the southwest and Hanover in the north. The remainder came mostly from Bavaria, Saxony, and Westphalia.15 In contrast, the Jews in Five Points came overwhelmingly from a single place: Poznan. Referred to in the nineteenth century as “Posen” and located midway between Berlin and Warsaw, Poznan was a Polish duchy that Prussia had occupied since the eighteenth century. At least 70 percent of the Jews living in antebellum Five Points were natives of this single Polish region.16

After the Irish and the Germans, no other ethnic or racial group made up more than 3 percent of the Five Points population in 1855. The size of the Italian contingent is somewhat surprising, even at 3 percent, given that large numbers of Italians did not begin immigrating to New York until the late nineteenth century. At this point they were concentrated almost exclusively on two blocks—Anthony Street east of Centre and Orange Street north of the Five Points intersection. A final group of Five Pointers—African Americans—merits discussion because their presence in the neighborhood was declining rapidly in these years. In 1825, African Americans constituted 14 percent of the Sixth Ward’s population. In 1855, however, only 4 percent of the ward’s residents were black, and they made up only 3 percent of the neighborhood’s population in that year. It is possible that the 1855 census undercounted the black populace. The 1855 census taker, for example, does not seem to have ventured into many of the infamous tenements in the part of Little Water Street known as “Cow Bay” (so called because the street was supposedly laid out over a path that stockmen once used to reach the Collect to water their cattle). As recently as 1849, one news report had claimed that six hundred blacks lived in Cow Bay, more than the census recorded in the entire ward in 1855. On the other hand, a black exodus had begun in the late 1830s after the anti-abolition riot. Observers noted blacks moving from Five Points to the West Side of Manhattan throughout the antebellum period. Those African Americans who remained had one thing in common with their white neighbors: few had been born in New York. Seventy-one percent of Five Points blacks were not native New Yorkers. Yet only a few—21 percent—were natives of slave states or island slave territories. Most had been born free in other mid-Atlantic states. So while Five Points still had “a full sprinkling of blacks” in the 1850s, it was no longer a focal point of the city’s African-American community.17

IT IS POSSIBLE to re-create block-by-block, even house-by-house, an ethnic map of the neighborhood. Ethnic and racial groups concentrated on certain blocks, and sometimes even in certain buildings. Germans were especially numerous on Centre Street at the western edge of the district and on Mott and Elizabeth Streets in the northeast corner of the neighborhood. Jews congregated at the foot of Orange Street and on upper Mott Street. Although most of the African-American strongholds in the ward had become Irish by 1855, several large clusters still existed on Cross Street between Orange and Mott and on Little Water Street. The Irish lived everywhere in the neighborhood, but especially dominated Orange Street above the Five Points intersection and Mulberry Street from Chatham Square all the way to Canal Street.18
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Irish-Born Five Pointers Married at Transfiguration Roman Catholic Church, 1853–60
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Source: Marriage Register, Church of the Transfiguration, 29 Mott Street, New York.



Immigrants from every part of Ireland lived in Five Points, but those from certain Irish regions settled there more often than others. More than three-quarters of the Irish Catholics, for example, came from the western half of Ireland, where the potato blight was especially severe. More surprising is that so large a proportion—44 percent of the Irish Catholic immigrants—came from just three of Ireland’s thirty-two counties: Sligo, Cork, and Kerry. The presence of many Cork natives at Five Points is understandable. County Cork was the most populous in Ireland—its pre-famine population of 854,000 was almost twice that of the next most populous county, and its rate of emigration, even on a per capita basis, outpaced that from most Irish counties.19

Why natives of relatively tiny County Sligo—on the northwest coast of Ireland—significantly outnumbered the Cork immigrants in Five Points demands an explanation. Immigrants from Sligo seem to have congregated in the northern section of the neighborhood long before the Great Famine. Many Sligo natives had lived in New York since the 1810s and 1820s and had resided in Five Points since the 1830s. No other Irish Five Pointers had such long-standing ties to the United States. These connections had two consequences. First, because so many Sligo natives were already in North America when the famine struck, they could send money back to help during the crisis. Some of this money bought food, but County Sligo residents also used it to pay for tickets to America. And when these immigrants arrived in New York, many sought out their countrymen and settled with or near them in Five Points.20

Records kept by the neighborhood’s Roman Catholic Church of the Transfiguration reveal that half the Sligo immigrants were natives of just two of the county’s forty-one Roman Catholic parishes. These same records indicate that more than three-quarters of the other unusually large Irish contingent in Five Points—that from County Kerry—came from just three out of eighty-six parishes. It turns out that so many Irish men, women, and children emigrated from these five Sligo and Kerry parishes because the three landlords who owned them (Lord Palmerston and Sir Robert Gore Booth in Sligo and the third marquis of Lansdowne in Kerry) paid for six thousand five hundred of their starving tenants to go to America. In fact, even though these three estates occupied only one-half of 1 percent of the Irish landmass, by 1855 nearly one in five Irish Catholic Five Points immigrants was a native of one of these three properties.21

Most Irish immigrants did not receive emigration assistance from their landlords; only about 6 percent in the famine years received such aid.22 Yet the Irish experiences of these Five Points immigrants are unusually well documented. Estate records for the three properties, used together with government documents, allow us to re-create in remarkable detail the tenants’ often miserable pre-famine lives and their struggles simply to survive once the “Great Hunger” began. As with Nelly Holland, it is vital to appreciate the immigrants’ experiences before they arrived in the United States to understand the world they made in Five Points.

“THE MOST WRETCHED PEOPLE UPON THE FACE OF THE GLOBE”

By the 1820s and ’30s, overpopulation, a dearth of affordable land, and a lack of economic development made conditions for the small farmers and laborers on the Palmerston and Lansdowne estates truly miserable. Like those all over western Ireland, these workers could not find nearly enough employment to support their families comfortably. A Protestant minister on Palmerston’s Ahamlish estate testified before the Irish “Poor Inquiry” of 1836* that the average unskilled workman there could find only three months of employment each year. “Fourteen years ago I could get as much work in the fields as would maintain me and my family, without land,” laborer Owen Casey told the same committee. By 1836, he could only find work breaking stones on a road crew at a penny per barrel. Another laborer remembered the days of constant employment, but “it now often happens that I don’t get more than a day in the week.” Unemployment was just as prevalent on the Lansdowne estate in County Kerry.23

As work became increasingly scarce, wages fell to incredibly low levels. The most a laborer could expect to earn annually in wages was £1 10s. or perhaps £2 5s. in a very good year. This was the equivalent, in 1845, of about $8 to $13 per annum. Given their meager incomes, impoverished laborers tried to conserve their cash by growing their own food (usually potatoes) on small rented plots, but the scarcity of arable land and overpopulation drove rents to astronomical levels.

There were a number of ways a poor Irishman might pay for this land. He might use a large portion of the rented land to grow corn or oats, which he could sell to pay the rental fee. Or he could pay the rent in labor rather than cash, although he probably already worked three days per week to pay for his family’s one-room cabin and an accompanying bit of land (or one day per week for a cabin without land). Selling pigs, butter, or eggs might also help to make ends meet. A laborer might, for example, buy a piglet for five shillings, feed it the family’s “waste potatoes” (those unfit for human consumption), and then sell it fully grown for eighteen shillings, netting a significant sum. Butter production required the capital to acquire both a cow and grazing land. Eggs necessitated a smaller initial investment for the poultry, but also brought smaller returns. Women could generate a bit of income for the family through spinning.24

As rents increased and wages fell over the first half of the nineteenth century, the Irish were forced to alter their diets to glean the largest quantity of food from their meager resources. Though the potato had occupied a central role in the diet of the laborer and small farmer for generations even before low wages and high rents became so burdensome, the Irish had eaten other vegetables and grains as well. “But as rents got high, and the price of labour fell,” explained one North Sligo farmer, “they gradually were compelled to reserve the grain” to pay their rent. On the tiny bit of land left for growing food, small farmers had little choice but to plant only potatoes because, as this farmer explained, “an acre of potatoes will feed at least five times as many people as an acre of corn.” As a result, said another area farmer, “a very large proportion of the labouring classes never take any other food than potatoes.”25

This was no exaggeration. Most residents of the Palmerston and Gore Booth estates ate nothing but potatoes for breakfast, potatoes for dinner (the midday meal), and potatoes for supper. Sometimes they prepared their potatoes with skimmed milk or a bit of butter, “but often salt is their only kitchen.” The poor ate no other vegetables, no fruit, no bread or grain, and no meat, testified a North Sligo resident, “unless they make a struggle to procure a bit [of meat] on one or two set nights in the year,” usually Christmas and Easter. A report from the Lansdowne estate concurred that “no groceries are used in a labourer’s family except a very little at Christmas.” Although many impoverished families had chickens that laid eggs, they never ate them, selling them instead to pay for tobacco. Given their proximity to the sea, one might imagine that these Irishmen could have eaten fish. But fishing required expertise and equipment that few laborers possessed. Professional fishermen caught plenty of seafood, but they sold it at prices far beyond the reach of the typical Irish peasant.26

While the diet of the average Palmerston or Lansdowne laborer may have been monotonous, it was at least filling. An adult laborer typically ate fourteen pounds of potatoes per day! As incredible as this may seem, contemporaries unanimously asserted that this was the daily diet of a workingman. When a laborer’s wages included food, one testified in 1836, “a stone [fourteen pounds] of potatoes is laid out for each man.” All agreed, noted an official of the Poor Inquiry, “that a man could not subsist upon less than one stone of potatoes in the day, and some thought that quantity would be hardly sufficient.” Other family members ate less, but their consumption was still impressive. A North Sligo laborer stated that he, his wife, and four children consumed 2.5 stone (35 pounds) of potatoes each day.27

For all that, hunger was a fact of life in the west of Ireland before the famine. Escalating rental fees forced the poor to grow more and more corn and grains that they sold to pay their rent. Using more land for such cash crops left very little on which to sow potatoes to feed one’s family. In order to stretch their food supplies to last the whole year, a Sligo laborer and his family typically ate only two meals a day during the first two summer months as they waited to harvest the new potato crop. Even if one managed to grow enough potatoes to last the whole year, midsummer was still a season of suffering, because “from the middle of July to the latter end of August, the [old] potatoes are unfit for use.” Even though the potatoes were stored in pits in order to preserve them as long as possible, they usually became rotten and inedible before the new crop matured. “The interval between the old crop becoming unfit, and the new crop becoming fit for food is often a season of great distress,” stated one North Sligo farmer. According to George Dodwell, Gore Booth’s Sligo estate agent, this hunger gap lasted at least two weeks each year, but “with many it extends to two months; and in proportion to its length is the distress that prevails.” Lansdowne’s tenants dreaded “Hungry July” as well.28

Many residents of western Ireland lived lives similar to those of the Palmerston and Lansdowne tenants. But Lansdowne’s tenants were so desperately poor that they often nailed their cabins shut during the summer and walked one hundred miles or more through Counties Cork, Limerick, and Tipperary in search of work. “In autumn they go to the low country during the harvest,” noted a Kerry resident, “and their wives then often shut up their houses and go begging with their families until their husbands come home” in time to harvest their potatoes. After digging up the tubers, some again went inland to find work before returning home for Christmas. Not all Lansdowne laborers needed to roam the countryside in search of work, but those who lived on mountainsides in the remote parishes of Tuosist and Bonane could rarely rent enough potato land to feed their families, and thus had no choice but to join in this migratory ritual.29

The cabins these migrant laborers returned home to were small, dark, and uncomfortable, and those in North Sligo were not much better. According to the testimony of one resident to the 1836 Poor Inquiry, “nine-tenths of the ordinary cabins are under 21 feet in length, and . . . none exceed 13 feet in breadth.” The largest were divided into two rooms, “but the number of them, too small to be divided, is by far the greater. They are nearly all constructed of walls of loose stones, coated outside with a mixture of clay and mortar. . . . The roof is formed of branches of trees laid across the rafters and covered with ‘scraws,’ i.e., sods of turf, over which is laid a very thin and imperfect thatching of straw. None have ceilings, and the dirt and cobwebs which fall from the exposed and damp roof” constantly annoyed the inhabitants. Cabins had “no other flooring than the earth. The floor is generally uneven, and, being too often below the level of the external soil,” puddles sometimes formed inside when it rained, an almost daily occurrence in western Ireland. “There are more cabins without chimneys than with them, and in many where they were originally constructed . . . the sides have subsided, and no longer permit the passage of smoke, which may be seen rolling in volumes through the door.” Smoke could not escape through the single window in the typical cabin because the pane of glass—stuck directly into the wall during construction—did not open. Cabins generally had no well for water and no stove or even grate over which to cook one’s food. Sligo housewives placed their potato pot directly on top of the burning turf they used for fuel. Such cabins had neither toilets nor outhouses of any kind. “Privies are absolutely unknown,” another resident told investigators. The cabin dweller simply found a secluded spot at which to relieve himself. In short, Sligo cabins were dirty, damp, crowded, dark, smoke-filled, primitive dwellings.30

Cabins on the Lansdowne estate were apparently even more wretched than those in North Sligo. Until the mid-1830s, Lansdowne’s tenants reputedly lived in some of the worst dwellings in all of Ireland. One visitor who traveled throughout Ireland in 1834 called these “as miserable cabins as I ever beheld.” With walls made of dried mud, they were “beyond description, wretched abodes.” Apparently embarrassed, Lord Lansdowne began financing the construction of stone homes to replace the mud hovels. By the eve of the famine, stone cabins predominated, but revolutionary Michael Doheny, who hid in Tuosist cabins after a failed uprising against the British in 1848, insisted that in many cases their “showy exterior is sadly belied by the filth and discomfort of the inside.”31

Poor laborers and farmers could afford few possessions to add comfort to these miserable abodes. A North Sligo resident told the parliamentary inquiry that “a majority of cabins possessed nothing beyond a table, a few stools, and a large chest.” Laborers did not have beds or mattresses either. At best they owned “rude bedsteads, but very frequently no other bedding than straw and hay, and a single quilt, or sheet, made of coarse sacking, in a condition of great filth.” Many children lacked even these comforts, sleeping instead on “a litter of old hay, which during the day-time, was collected in a corner, and had been in use for months.” North Sligo laborers slept in their clothes, but because they were “clothed very poorly and insufficiently,” they were seldom warm at night. The few men who did “possess a good suit [did] not wear it except on Sundays, and on a few other occasions; the women and children are still worse off than the men, especially the latter, who are at all times in rags.” Many, especially women and children, had neither socks nor shoes. Identical conditions prevailed on the Lansdowne estate. “Furniture miserable; bedding wretched,” was how the recording secretary summed up testimony concerning the Lansdowne tenants.32

Who was to blame for this situation? Some faulted the landlords and their agents. But Kenmare archdeacon John O’Sullivan, who was no admirer of Lansdowne, admitted the marquis charged very reasonable rents and did not evict tenants even when they fell years behind in their payments. Those in North Sligo generally said the same for Palmerston and Gore Booth. The landlords’ agents tended to blame the poor tenants for their own plight, insisting that they married too young, had too many children, and subdivided their land too frequently among their offspring. No matter who one faulted, all observers agreed that living conditions for most tenants were truly pitiful. “The tenantry are extremely wretched,” said a North Sligo resident in summing up his testimony concerning the Palmerston and Gore Booth estates. Irish Poor Inquiry official Jonathan Binns concluded that Lansdowne’s “poor cottagers are in a very distressed condition. . . . They are nearly half naked, and are but half fed. This is indeed a wretched state of things.” Lansdowne’s isolated tenants were even worse off than those in North Sligo, living in smaller cabins with less arable land and fewer personal possessions. The Lansdowne tenants, O’Sullivan asserted in 1844, were “the most wretched people upon the face of the globe.”33

“FAMISHED AND SPECTRAL HUMAN BEINGS”

Given their precarious circumstances in 1844, it was no surprise that Lansdowne’s tenants were devastated by the famine that began after a fungus infested and almost completely destroyed potato crops in 1845, 1846, and 1847. During the first year after the blight struck, from mid-1845 to mid-1846, the distress was relatively mild.34 But with the second, more complete failure of the potato crop in the summer of 1846, the situation became dire. “I see nothing within the bounds of possibility that can save the people,” wrote a relief official responsible for setting up public works projects on the Lansdowne estate in February 1847:

On one road, on which I have 300 men employed, the deaths are three each day. This is in the parish of Tuosist. The people are buried without coffins, frequently in the next field. No noise or sign of grief for the dead; every thought is selfish and unfeeling. . . . I daily witness the most terrible spectacles. Men and women are discolored with dropsy, attacked with dysentary, or mad with fever, on the works—driven there by the terrible necessity of trying to get as much as would purchase a meal. . . . With most of these working is a mockery; they can scarcely walk to and from the roads, and how can they work! . . . When a respectable person passes the houses of these poor people, the saddest sights present themselves; women, children, and old men crawling out on all fours, perhaps from beside a corpse, to crave a morsel of any kind of food.

Conditions in Tuosist, agreed visitor William Bennett, were “utterly past the powers of description, or even of imagination, without witnessing.”35

The situation in the town of Kenmare was hardly better than in the countryside. Archdeacon O’Sullivan recorded in his diary in early 1847 that there was “nothing more usual than to find four or five bodies in the street every morning.” The suffering of the living was almost as difficult to bear as the sight of the dead. “The swollen limbs, emaciated countenances, and other hideous forms of disease . . . were innumerable,” wrote the appalled Bennett. “In no other part of Ireland had I seen people falling on their knees to beg. It was difficult to sit over breakfast after this.” O’Sullivan wrote directly to Charles Trevelyan, permanent secretary at the Treasury in London and the man who single-handedly controlled most relief expenditures, hoping that if Trevelyan understood the extent of the suffering, he might make more aid available. “The cries of starving hundreds that besiege me from morning until night actually ring in my ears during the night,” O’Sullivan reported. “I attended myself a poor woman, whose infant, dead two days, lay at the foot of the bed, and four others nearly dead in the same bed; and, horrible to relate, a famished cat got up on the corpse of the poor infant and was about to gnaw it, but for my interference. I could tell you such tales of woe without end.”36

Similarly horrifying conditions prevailed in North Sligo. “On the Ahamlish Estate the [potato] disease was late in appearing,” reported Palmerston’s agents to the foreign secretary in February 1846, “but in some parts of the parish it has committed dreadful ravages. . . . [N]o doubt the labouring class will be very badly off.” No one appears to have perished from hunger in late 1845 or early 1846, even though food was in very short supply and hundreds went hungry. But many refused to pay their rents, the agents noted, “under the plea of starvation & the failure of the Potato Crop.”37

As in South Kerry, it was only in late 1846 with the second consecutive failure of the potato crop—“utterly and completely destroyed,” said one Sligo newspaper—that Palmerston and Gore Booth’s already reeling tenants began to succumb to starvation. Victims often perished due to famine-related illnesses rather than actual hunger. An Ahamlish doctor reported that “a dreadful disease is breaking out amongst them. I allude to Dysentry with discharge of blood from the bowels.” Another ailment, “sore mouth,” appeared as well, “which I think has been produced by the unwholesome food the poor were obliged to use in the early part of the season and which so injured the coat of their stomachs and bowels, that now they are not in a state to bear strong food and the consequence is the living membrane of the intestine is coming away.” As in southwestern Kerry, a relief official in North Sligo wrote directly to Trevelyan to ensure that he understood the magnitude of the suffering. “I assure you that unless something is immediately done the people must die. . . . Pray do something for them. Let me beg of you to attend to this. I cannot express their condition.”38

Gore Booth labored tirelessly to compensate for the lack of governmental assistance to the starving. He imported large quantities of corn to his Drumcliff estate, which he sold to his tenants below cost. He also sold bread at less than half the market price and set up kitchens that distributed free soup. In addition, reported a local newspaper, Gore Booth provided “employment on an extensive scale,” doling out jobs on his estate for as many as the government employed under the local public works program. Gore Booth was forced to mortgage his property in Lancashire to finance these expenditures, which amounted to thousands of pounds. These laudable efforts reduced but could not eliminate starvation in Drumcliff. “It is no exaggeration to affirm that . . . the people are dying from starvation by dozens daily,” reported a relief official there in March 1847. “But for Sir Robert Booth they would be dying by scores—by fifties.”39

Despite these efforts, conditions on the Gore Booth estate continued to deteriorate. A relief official reported pitiable scenes, even among those who had recently been well off:

The first place I visited, was a wretched hamlet of three cottages, with outhouses, containing three families, numbering in all 32 persons, belonging to three brothers; the whole having lived on 12 acres for a period of [years]. . . . Last year, they thought themselves so well off, they refused to take £60 to give up the lease and depart. Now they are starving. . . . One of the brothers, and three others of the families, had died during the previous week. The widow was lying on the ground in fever, and unable to move. The children were bloated in their faces and bodies, their limbs were withered to bones and sinews, with rags on them which scarcely preserved decency, and assuredly afforded no protection from the weather. They had been found that day, gnawing the flesh from the bones of a pig which had died in an out-house. . . . I saw the pig, I believe the fact.

The situation in Ahamlish, where Palmerston provided far less private relief to his tenants than did Gore Booth, was even more dire. Ahamlish is “barren and [has] now almost become a waste,” reported the press. Of 1,800 Ahamlish families, stated another eyewitness, 1,700 were utterly “destitute,” with “8500 individuals actually starving.” The death rate in County Sligo during the famine years outpaced that of virtually every other county in Ireland.40
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